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DECISION


James K. Kornhardt is subject to discipline because he was finally adjudicated and found guilty of having committed the criminal offenses of conspiracy to commit murder-for-hire, murder-for-hire, and obstruction of justice.
Procedure

On December 20, 2010, the Department of Health and Senior Services, Bureau of Emergency Medical Services (“DHSS”) filed a complaint seeking to discipline Kornhardt.  DHSS personally served Kornhardt with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing on January 31, 2011.  Kornhardt did not answer the complaint.

On May 11, 2011, DHSS filed a motion for summary decision.  We gave Kornhardt until May 27, 2011, to respond to the motion.  Kornhardt failed to respond to the motion for summary decision.  Instead, Kornhardt filed a motion on May 27, 2011, seeking to hold these proceedings 
in abeyance pending a decision on the appeal of his criminal convictions; we denied this motion on June 8, 2011.

Under Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(6), we may decide this case without a hearing if DHSS establishes facts that (a) Kornhardt does not genuinely dispute and (b) entitle DHSS to a favorable decision.  Facts may be established by admissible evidence such as a stipulation, pleading of the adverse party, discovery response of the adverse party, affidavit, or any other evidence admissible under law.
  

Our rules require Kornhardt to file an answer.
  We may order, on our own motion, allegations pled in a complaint to be deemed admitted by a party failing to answer the complaint.
  We find Kornhardt in violation of our rules for failing to answer DHSS’s complaint and deem the allegations in DHSS’s complaint admitted by Kornhardt.  By failing to respond to DHSS’s motion, Kornhardt also has not disputed the evidence DHSS submitted in support of its motion for summary decision.
  Therefore, we make our findings of fact from the factual allegations in DHSS’s complaint deemed admitted by Kornhardt and the undisputed evidence DHSS submitted in support of its motion for summary decision.
Findings of Fact
1. Kornhardt is licensed by DHSS as an emergency medical technician (“EMT-Basic”).  His license is current and active and was so at all relevant times.
2. On June 25, 2009, a second superseding indictment by grand jury was filed against Kornhardt (“indictment”) in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri (“District Court”).

3. The first three counts of the indictment charge Kornhardt with having committed the following criminal offenses:  (a) Count One – Conspiracy to Commit Murder-For-Hire in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1958; (b) Count Two – Murder-for-Hire in violation of 18 U.S.C.          § 1958; and (c) Count Three – Obstruction of Justice in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(2)(B).
4. After a trial by jury, Kornhardt was found guilty on June 14, 2010 of all three counts of the indictment.
5. On September 23, 2010, the District Court sentenced Kornhardt to be imprisoned for a total term of life:  “This term consists of a term of Life on each of counts one and two, and 240 months on count three, all such terms to be served concurrently.”
6. The EMT-Basic National Standard Curriculum, published by the United States Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration, provides that an EMT-Basic should avoid acts of physical force or unnecessary physical contact with patients, make the physical/emotional needs of patients a priority, treat others with respect, and report physical injuries resulting from abuse or crimes to law enforcement authorities as required by law.
Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction to hear this case.
  DHSS has the burden of proving that Kornhardt committed an act for which the law allows discipline.
  

We are required by § 621.045 to “separately and independently” determine whether the facts – undisputed, proven by evidence at a hearing, or combined – constitute cause for discipline.
  Therefore, we independently assess whether the established facts allow discipline under the law cited.  


DHSS asserts that Kornhardt is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2 and 19 CSR 30-40.365.  Section 190.165.2 provides that DHSS:

may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any person who has failed to renew or has 

surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of sections 190.100 to 190.245 or any lawful regulations promulgated by the department to implement such sections.  Those regulations shall be limited to the following:

*   *   *


(2) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 190.100 to 190.245, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

DHSS promulgated 19 CSR 30-40.365 as authorized by § 190.165.2 to implement the causes for discipline.  Under 19 CSR 30-40.365(2), DHSS:

may cause a complaint to be filed with the Administrative Hearing Commission as provided by Chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate, permit or license required by the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his or her certificate, permit or license for failure to comply with the provisions of the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act or for any of the following reasons:

*   *   *


(B) Being finally adjudicated and found guilty, or having entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any activity licensed or regulated pursuant to the comprehensive emergency medical services systems act, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

I.  Final Adjudications of Guilt


Kornhardt was finally adjudicated to be guilty of all three counts of the indictment when the District Court imposed sentence on September 23, 2010.
  Under 18 U.S.C. § 1958, the criminal offenses of murder-for-hire and/or conspiracy to commit murder-for-hire are committed by: 

Whoever travels in or causes another (including the intended victim) to travel in interstate or foreign commerce, or uses or causes another (including the intended victim) to use the mail or any facility of interstate or foreign commerce, with intent that a murder be committed in violation of the laws of any State or the United States as consideration for the receipt of, or as consideration for a promise or agreement to pay, anything of pecuniary value, or who conspires to do so[.]

Kornhardt was convicted of both murder-for-hire and conspiracy to commit murder-for-hire under 18 U.S.C. § 1958.
  


The criminal offense of obstruction of justice under 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(2)(B) is committed by:
Whoever knowingly uses intimidation, threatens, or corruptly persuades another person, or attempts to do so, or engages in misleading conduct toward another person, with intent to--

*   *   *

cause or induce any person to--

*   *   *

alter, destroy, mutilate, or conceal an object with intent to impair the object's integrity or availability for use in an official proceeding[.]

II.  Reasonably Related to EMT Qualifications, Functions, or Duties


DHSS asserts that the three criminal offenses of which Kornhardt was convicted are all reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of an EMT-Basic.  Reasonable relation is a low threshold.  To relate is to only have a logical connection.


Section 190.142 and 19 CSR 30-40.342 require EMT-Basics to be trained to meet the requirements of the EMT-Basic National Standard Curriculum as published by the United States Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.  This curriculum, among other things, establishes that EMT-Basics are to avoid acts of physical force or unnecessary physical contact with patients, make the physical/emotional needs of patients a priority, treat others with respect, and report physical injuries resulting from abuse or crimes as required by law.  The curriculum and the qualifications demanded of an EMT-Basic under Chapter 190 recognize that an EMT-Basic has the duties and functions of respecting the rights of others, protecting others from harm, and assisting law enforcement by reporting certain violations of law.  Indeed, the preservation of human life is a fundamental purpose of those licensed as EMT-Basics.


Kornhardt’s convictions for the crimes of conspiracy to commit murder-for-hire, murder-for-hire, and obstruction of justice demonstrate his repudiation of the fundamental purpose of his license and his failure to meet basic requirements imposed on an EMT-Basic.  We find conspiracy to commit murder-for-hire, murder-for-hire, and obstruction of justice to be crimes reasonably related to the qualifications, functions, or duties of an EMT-Basic.  Therefore, Kornhardt is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).
III.  Criminal Offense an Essential Element of which

is Fraud, Dishonesty, or an Act of Violence

DHSS asserts that obstruction of justice under 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(2)(B) is a crime an essential element of which is dishonesty.  An essential element is one that must be proven for a conviction in every case.
  Dishonesty is a lack of integrity, a disposition to defraud or deceive.
  Dishonesty includes actions that reflect adversely on trustworthiness.
  We find obstruction of justice under 18 U.S.C. § 1512(b)(2)(B) to be a crime an essential element of which is dishonesty.  Therefore, Kornhardt is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).
IV.  Criminal Offense Involving Moral Turpitude


DHSS asserts that the three criminal offenses of which Kornhardt was convicted are all criminal offenses involving moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[
]

Courts have used a threefold classification of crimes in relation to moral turpitude.
  Those classifications are (1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds; (2) crimes "so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude," such as illegal parking; and (3) crimes that "may be saturated with moral turpitude," yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee.
  Category 3 crimes require consideration of “the related factual circumstances” of the offense to determine whether moral turpitude is involved.
    

We find all three of the crimes of which Kornhardt was convicted to be Category 1 crimes necessarily involving moral turpitude.
  Therefore, Kornhardt is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).
Summary

Kornhardt is subject to discipline under § 190.165.2(2) and 19 CSR 30-40.365(2)(B).  We grant the motion for summary decision and cancel the hearing.

SO ORDERED on June 23, 2011.
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SREENIVASA   RAO   DANDAMUDI



Commissioner

�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(6)(B).


�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1).


�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7) and 1 CSR 15-3.425.


�DHHS’s evidence consists of DHSS business records, certified records from the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri, business records of the Federal Bureau of Prisons, portions of the EMT-Basic National Standard Curriculum published by the U.S. Department of Transportation, and supporting affidavits and declarations.


	�Section 621.045.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo Supp. 2010.


	�Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  


	�Kennedy v. Missouri Real Estate Comm’n, 762 S.W.2d 454, 456-57 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).


�18 U.S.C. § 3582 (“Notwithstanding the fact that a sentence to imprisonment can subsequently be  . . . appealed and modified . . . a judgment of conviction that includes such a sentence constitutes a final judgment for all other purposes.”).


	�We note that the statutory language “or who conspires to do so” was not present in 18 U.S.C. § 1958 at all times relevant to Kornhardt’s convictions.  While this affected how Kornhardt was charged under 18 U.S.C. § 1958 and his eventual sentencing, it does not affect our analysis because Kornhardt’s conduct over time ultimately subjected him to conviction for both murder-for-hire and conspiracy to commit murder-for-hire.


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 1050 (11th ed. 2004).


	�State ex rel. Atkins v. Missouri Bd. of Accountancy, 351 S.W.2d 483, 485 (Mo.  App., K.C.D. 1961).


	�MERRIAM-WEBSTER’S COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 359 (11th ed. 2004).   


	�See In re Duncan, 844 S.W.2d 443, 444 (Mo. banc 1992).


	�In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).


�Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education¸ 213 S.W.3d 720, 725 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007) (citing Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)).


�Id.


	�Id.


�See, e.g., State v. Lee, 404 S.W.2d 740, 748 (Mo. 1966) (murder is a crime involving moral turpitude); and Padilla v. Gonzales, 397 F.3d 1016, 1019-21 (7th Cir. 2005) (holding obstruction of justice to be a crime involving moral turpitude and noting crimes that do not involve fraud, but include dishonesty or lying as an essential element also tend to involve moral turpitude). 
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